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January 16, 2024
Via Electronic Transmission

Inspector General Michael Horowitz
U.S. Department of Justice

Office of the Inspector General

950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Washington, DC 20530-0001

Counsel Jeffrey Ragsdale

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Professional Responsibility

950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Suite 3266
Washington, DC 20530-0001

RE: Complaint of Reprisal Against Federal Bureau of Investigation
Employee for Making a Protected Disclosure

Dear Inspector General Horowitz and Counsel Ragsdale:
INTRODUCTION

Empower Oversight Whistleblowers & Research (“Empower Oversight”) is a
nonpartisan, nonprofit educational organization dedicated to enhancing independent oversight
of government and corporate wrongdoing. We work to help insiders safely and legally report
waste, fraud, abuse, corruption, and misconduct to the proper authorities, and seek to hold those
authorities accountable to act on such reports by, among other means, publishing information
concerning the same.

REPRISAL COMPLAINT

Empower Oversight represents Monica Shillingburg, who is employed by the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) at its Criminal Justice Information Services Branch (“CJIS”) in
Clarksburg, West Virginia. Prior to reprisal taken against her, she served as a program
manager/unit chief in the FBI National Instant Criminal Background Check System (“NICS”).
Pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 27.3(a), through undersigned counsel, Mrs. Shillingburg makes a
complaint aﬁainst various CJIS officials for taking personnel actions with respect to her as
reprisal for her protected disclosures, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a) and 28 C.F.R. § 27.2.



A. Protected Disclosures

The NICS section is responsible for conducting criminal background checks of
individuals who seek to purchase firearms. The section performed the initial checks, as well as
appeals of checks that were delayed or where there was a denial.

Mrs. Shillingburg had served in that section since 1997 and was an original member of
the NICS development team when the section was formed. Because of her vast experience, she
became a program manager/unit chief in the NICS section. She has been a unit chief or the lead
manager in every single unit of NICS during her career, making her one of the most
knowledgeable managers of NICS in the FBI. Mrs. Shillingburg was nominated by the FBI and
yva; 6111((3) recipient of a national award from the Women in Federal Law Enforcement Foundation
in .

1. Protected Disclosures

During the spring of 2018, Mrs. Shillingburg was informed by a deputy assistant director
that the background check appeals were being moved to CJIS’s Biometric Services Section
(“BSS”) on October 1, 2018. Prior to the October 1, 2018 move, Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed that
moving NICS appeals to BSS was improper for three general reasons.

First, she reasonably believed the move would violate the Brady Handgun Violence
Protection Act of 1993 (“the Brady Act”), Public Law No. 103-159 and 28 C.F.R. Part 25, which
mandate that background check procedures, including appeals, must be performed by the NICS
section. Only the attorney general may delegate NICS functions to another entity, and the
attorney general did not make any such delegation when the FBI moved the background check
appeals to BSS. Mrs. Shillingburg based her opinion, in part, on an FBI attorney’s legal opinion
on the matter when the issue previously arose in 2013.

Mrs. Shillingburg was particularly concerned about the legality of the move because
NICS and BSS use different funding streams. BSS is funded by user fees, while NICS is funded
by congressional appropriation. Thus, it appeared that mixing the two sections’ functions would
be a misuse of funds. In fact, after the move, BSS personnel began using the NICS cost code,
which further complicated the matter. BSS employees were using NICS funding while supervised
by BSS management.

Mrs. Shillingburg’s concern over the legality of the move was heightened when CJIS
employees were instructed in an email to avoid saying the appeals had been “moved” to BSS and,
instead, to say the work was “surged” or “merged” with BSS. She believed this instruction was an
effort by CJIS management to obtuscate the legal and regulatory impropriety of the move.

Second, in addition to the legal and regulatory violations, Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed
that moving the appeals to BSS was gross mismanagement and a gross waste of funds. The NICS
system had suffered from a backlog of checks for a substantial period of time, and the NICS
section repeatedly asked for additional personnel to address the backlog. When insufficient
resources were provided, the NICS section used substantial resources to automate some of the
aﬁpeals work, which allowed it to address the backlog. Moving the appeals to BSS would waste
all of the NICS section’s previous work, as BSS would have to develop a new system, and it
would cause the backlog to increase. Furthermore, BSS em(E)IOﬁees received substantially less
training in the apﬁeals work, so the quality of work suffered when it was moved to BSS. Some
NICS employees had to be transferred to BSS to assist with the appeals work.

Finally, Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed a substantial and specific danger to I]l)ublic safety

because the BSS personnel’s lack of experience and training increased the likelihood of an
improper gun sale.
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2. Recipients of Protected Disclosures

Mrs. Shillingburg and other employees, particularly NICS section attorney Julie
Baumgardner, disclosed the above improprieties regarding the move to BSS to her chain of
command. In response, Deputy Assistant Director (“DAD”) Kim DelGreco communicated down
through the Section Chief and Assistant Section Chief Lisa Vincent that Mrs. Shillingburg and
Ms. Baumgardner needed to get on board with the decision to move the unit or the FBI would
take action against the employees. DAD DelGreco even stated that she would decide to whom
early retirement from the FBI would be offered, in what appeared to be a threat to those raising
concerns.

After the NICS appeals were moved, Mrs. Shillingburg saw that various problems arose.
After seeing that and doing some research on making a whistleblower disclosure, Mrs.
Shillingburg made a formal protected disclosure about these improprieties to her Section Chief
Robin Stark-Nutter and Assistant Section Chief Vincent on May 29, 2019. Under 5 U.S.C. §
2303(a)(1)(A), a supervisor in an employee’s chain of command is a designated recipient for
protected disclosures from FBI personnel.!

Mrs. Shillingburg believes her supervisors were required to forward her disclosure to the
FBI’s Inspection Division (“INSD”). Under 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a)(1)(E) and 28 C.F.R. § 27.1(a),
the FBI Irllspection Division is a designated recipient for protected disclosures from FBI
personnel.

When the FBI INSD failed to take action, Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed the impropriety to
the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”), receiving an
acknowledgment from the OIG dated July 30, 2019. Under 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a)(1)(B) and 28
C.F.R. § 27.1(a), the OIG is a designated recipient for protected disclosures from FBI personnel.

On September 1, 2019, after hearing nothing from INSD and only receiving an
acknowledgment from the OIG, Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed the mishandling of the NICS system
to the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”). See Exhibit A. Specifically, she reported that:

a. The FBI had failed to provide adequate staffing to NICS, resulting in the failure to
complete required background checks prior to the sale of firearms; and

b. CJIS management improperly transferred the NICS appeal process to the BSS, in
violation of the Brady Act and 28 C.F.R. Part 25.

The Office of Special Counsel is a designated recipient for protected disclosures from FBI
employees under 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a)(1)(G).2

At OSC’s request, Mrs. Shillingburg signed a consent form dated October 3, 2019, for the
OSC to disclose her name as a whistleblower to the FBI and DOJ.

1 Currently, DOJ’s regulations regarding FBI whistleblower protections are inconsistent with statutory requirements
under 5 U.S.C. § 2303, speciﬁcalfy relevant here, excluding disclosures to a supervisor in an employee’s chain of
command. However, DOJ has proposed updating those regulations to conform to statutory requirements. See
Whistleblower Protection for Federal Bureau of Investigation Employees (Docket No. JM 154; AG Order No. 5618-
2023) 88 Fed. Reg. 18487.

2 As discussed in n.2 above, DOJ’s regulations regarding FBI whistleblower protections are currently inconsistent
with statutory requirements under 5 U.S.C. § 2303. Specifically relevant here, regulations currently exclude
protections for disclosures to the OSC. However, DOJ has proposed updating those regulations to conform to
statutory requirements. See Whistleblower Protection for Federal Bureau of Investigation Employees (Docket No.
JM 154; AG Order No. 5618-2023) 88 Fed. Reg. 18487.
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On October 22, 2019, OSC referred Mrs. Shillingburg’s disclosure to DOJ, which asked
the FBI to investigate the matter. In an April 14, 2020 report, FBI INSD found that there had
been no improprieties by CJIS, and DOJ concurred with the INSD’s findings. DOJ transmitted
INSD’s report to OSC on April 22, 2020. See Exhibit B.

On June 29, 2020, Mrs. Shillingburg responded to the INSD report by disclosing to OSC
several errors. See Exhibit C. For example, INSD claimed that the move of appeals to BSS
resulted in improvements to the appeals process, particularly with automation, but the NICS
section had already been making those improvements and the move to BSS actually delayed their
implementation. In fact, before the move to BSS, the NICS section was completing appeals in 17
days. After the move, BSS completed appeals in 45-48 days.

Also, BSS decided not to process an entire set of appeals that are not required by law to
be addressed, when a response by NICS is delayed. Before the move to BSS, the NICS section
processed e:ipdpeals of delayed responses. After the move to BSS, the prospective §un buyers’ only
option to address the delayed response, which could result in a de facto denial of their ability to
buy a gun, was to file a different form of appeal called a voluntary appeal file. Voluntary appeal
file submissions were still being processe({) Ey the NICS section. Essentially, part of BSS’s
claimed success was the result of pushing its work back onto the NICS section. The backlog for
voluntary appeal file submissions grew to over 3,000. Furthermore, INSD failed to account for
the reduction in the quality of appeals processing. BSS personnel did not require appellants to
confirm that the fingerprints sugmitteg were actually theirs, which increaseg the liﬁelihood of
purchasers being alﬁ)wed to buy a gun by using someone else’s fingerprints.

OSC closed its disclosure file and sent it to the President and Congress on January 27,
2022.3 See Exhibit D. Mrs. Shillingburg authorized the inclusion of her written comments on the
INSD report in OSC’s public release.

3. Reasonableness of Disclosures

Mrs. Shillingburg had a reasonable belief that her disclosures evidenced the wrongdoing
described in 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a)(2). The reasonableness of her disclosures is further confirmed
by recipients of her disclosures.

In its referral of Mrs. Shillingburg’s disclosures to DOJ, Exhibit A, OSC advised DOJ that
it “concluded that there is a substantial likelihood that the information provided to OSC
discloses a violation of law, rule, or regulation, gross mismanagement, and a substantial and
specific danger to public safety.”

Additionally, on October 1, 2023, the FBI moved NICS appeals back to the NICS section
from BSS. The FBI’s justification to its employees for moving the appeals back to the NICS
section mirrors several of the disclosures Mrs. Shillingburg made against the transfer five years
earlier. This further validates the reasonableness of Mrs. Shillingburg’s disclosures.

Thus, Mrs. Shillingburg’s disclosures to her chain of command, FBI Inspection Division,
the OIG, and OSC meet all the requirements of a protected disclosure under 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a)
and 28 C.F.R. § 27.1(a).
B. Reprisal

Michael Christman served as one of the three DADs at CJIS from 2018 to 2020. This
included the period when Mrs. Shillingburg made her protected disclosures and DAD

3 https://osc.gov/Documents/Public%20Files/FY22/DI-19-5076/DI-19-
5076%20Letter%20t0%20President_Redacted.pdf.
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Christman’s colleague, DAD DelGreco, told her the FBI would take action against Mrs.
Shillingburg if she continued to object to the improper transfer of NICS appeals to BSS. In May
2020—seven months after OSC reterred to DOJ Mrs. Shillingburg’s disclosures, along with her
identity as the source—Christman was appointed as the Special Agent in Charge of the FBI’s
Pittsbzlrgh Field Office. Christman returned to CJIS as Assistant Director (“AD”) in March
2021.

Mrs. Shillingburg and other NICS employees had been working remotely during the
COVID-19 pandemic, including when OSC closed its report in early 2020 on her disclosure.
After returning to the office, Mrs. Shillingburg had a meeting with AD Christman and other
NICS unit chiefs in August 2021. Thereafter, Section Chief Trudy Ford and Assistant Section
Chief Joey Hixenbaugh told Mrs. Shillingburg in September or October 2021 that Mrs.
Shillingburg had “left a bad taste” in the mouth of AD Christman during the August 2021
meeting because of her “body language.” Ford and Hixenbaugh also told Mrs. Shillingburg that

P13

she needed to work to get on AD Christman’s “good side.”

As OSC closed its file in January 2022, CJIS management began taking the following
personnel actions against Mrs. Shillingburg as reprisal for her protected disclosures: 1) she was
transferred from her unit chief position in the NICS section to a non-unit chief position in
another section; 2) she has been denied the opportunity to work remotely; and 3) CJIS
management has communicated to her that it is considering a reduction in her pay.

1. Transfer/Reassignment

On January 3, 2022, CJIS management informed Mrs. Shillingburg she would be
transferred from her unit chief position in the NICS section to the Crime and Law Enforcement
Statistics Unit (“CLESU”). This move was made without any negative written or verbal personnel
action (i.e., reprimand, “write-up,” performance review, etc.), and she was given no choice in the
move. When she was moved, she was told that she would be working on a special project for the
AD, but she was not actually given that assignment.

Although the transfer has not resulted in a reduction in pay yet, Mrs. Shillingburg lost
her position as a unit chief in the transfer. Oddly, even though there was an open unit chief
position in CLESU, Mrs. Shillingburg was not moved into that position. Later, a unit chief was
selected who had no previous experience at that supervisory level. Also, CJIS management told
Mrs. Shillingburg that she was to perform the duties of acting unit chief when the permanent
unit chief was out of the office. Mrs. Shillingburg had been a unit chief for eighteen years—from
2004 to 2022. The transfer forced her to work for a far less experienced unit chief and act in his
stead. Also, while she previously supervised about 160 employees when she was a unit chief in
the NICS section, she only supervised three employees at CLESU when she was initially moved.
She currently only supervises ten people: eight employees and two contractors. Finally, as a
result of the transfer, Mrs. Shillingburg was moved from a private office to a small cubicle.
Amongst employees at CJIS, the loss of a private office is a significant public rebuke of an
employee. In fact, after the move, many employees asked her what she had done wrong, which
was a humiliating experience for her.

Mrs. Shillingburg’s transfer, causing her to lose her unit chief position, work for a far less
experienced manager, supervise far fewer employees, and lose her private office, had the dual
eftect of demoralizing her and sending a message to other CJIS employees about what
management would do to them if they made protected disclosures.

4 FBI, Press Release, Michael A. Christman Named Assistant Director of the Criminal Justice Information Services
Division (Mar. 12, 2021) available at https://www.fbi.gov/news/press-releases/michael-a-christman-named-

assistant-director-of-the-criminal-justice-information-services-division (last visited Oct. 27, 2023).
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2. Significant Change in Working Conditions — Denial of Previously Approved
Remote Work and Arbitrary Restrictions on Remote Work and Leave®

After her transfer to CLESU, in July 2022, Mrs. Shillingburg received permission to work
remotely for three weeks at a recently completed home in North Carolina. Shortly after arriving
in North Carolina, Mrs. Shillingburg’s unit chief notified her that the remote work policy had
changed. She was not allowed to work remotely for more than one week at a time, even though
she had previously received permission to work remotely for longer periods. Mrs. Shillingburg
asked her unit chief for a written copy of the policy change, but she was not given one until June
2023, almost a year after her approved remote work was cancelled. Meanwhile, during the fall of
2022, Mrs. Shillingburg was notified that she could no longer work remotely at all from her
home in North Carolina because it was considered routine telework. Mrs. Shillingburg has
learned that other CJIS employees have been allowed to telework nearly full-time the past two
and a half years, including an employee in her same section who has been allowed to telework
from a home out of state.

Mrs. Shillingburg learned that AD Christman was taking a personal interest in whether
she was working remotely. In April 2023, her unit chief told her that AD Christman had printed
out a copy of a Facebook post she posted while she was on leave in North Carolina. The AD
reportedly questioned why she was out of state. Upon returning to CJIS, Mrs. Shillingburg met
with DAD Brian Griffith, who confirmed that AD Christman had printed out the Facebook post
and had given it to him and others in Mrs. Shillingburg’s chain of command. DAD Griffith
indicate(% that he believed this was a “bad move” by the AD and that he would talk to him about
it. Mrs. Shillingburg also learned that AD Christman had reportedly searched her work record to
determine when she would be retiring. DAD Griffith told Mrs. Shillingburg that AD Christman
had a bad impression of her.

In June 2023 Mrs. Shillingburg was questioned by her chain of command about how
many times she had worked remotely since October 2022. She had worked one day remotely,
and she only worked remotely that day because it was CJIS Family Day, when her section chief
encouraged employees to work remotely to make sure there was enough parking for visitors.

In addition, in July 2023, Mrs. Shillingburg has been told by her unit chief that CJIS
management decided that she cannot take more than two weeks of consecutive leave at any one
time. Before that, she had been able to take more than two weeks of consecutive leave. Also,
another employee in the section was allowed to take three consecutive weeks of leave. To Mrs.
Shillingburg’s knowledge, she was the only employee whose leave was restricted, and this was
not a written policy.

3. Threat to Reduce Pay

In June 2023, while she was being questioned about her remote work, Mrs.
Shillingburg’s unit chief notified her that AD Christman did not feel she was earning her pay,
b}fcal%?e she is not a unit chief and does not always act for the current unit chief when he is out of
the office.

5 A significant change in working conditions is a “personnel action” under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), but, under
5 U.S.C. § 2303(a) the definition of a personnel action involving an FBI employee only includes the personnel
actions listed in clauses (i) through (x) of § 2302(a)(2)(A). However, this discrepancy is a result of Congress
including additional personnel actions to § 2302(a)(2)(A) without amending § 2303(a). When § 2303 was originally

assed, a significant change in working conditions was clause (x) of § 2302(a)(2)(A), and, thus, a personnel action

or FBI emﬁloyees. DOJ has acknowledged this in its proposed changes to FBI whistleblower regulations and has
proposed changing regulations to correct this discrepancy. See Whistleblower Protection for Federal Bureau of
Investigation Employees (Docket No. JM 154; AG Order No. 5618-2023) 88 Fed. Reg. 18491.
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During September 2023, Mrs. Shillingburg was told that she must act as unit chief for
CLESU for a month while the permanent unit chief was on temporary assignment.

CONCLUSION

Mrs. Shillingburg disclosed to her chain of command, FBI INSD, DOJ OIG, and OSC
information that she reasonably believed evidenced violations of law, rule, or regulation, gross
mismanagement, gross waste of funds, and a substantial and specific danger to public safety.
OSC’s referral validates the reasonableness of her belief. The FBI’s own actions confirm her
beliefs were reasonable, since it has since reversed the actions that she originally reported and
told employees that the decision was based on many of the same reasons Mrs. Shillingburg had
cited in her whistleblower complaint. Yet CJIS management, particularly AD Christman, has
retaliated against Mrs. Shillingburg for her protected disclosures. We respectfully request that
the OIG or DOJ OPR investigate this reprisal and take corrective action.

Cordially,
/Tristan Leavitt/

Tristan Leavitt
President
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 300
wWashingion, D.C. 20036-4505

The Special Counsel

October 22, 2019

The Honorable William Barr
Attorney General

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530

Re: OSC File No. DI-19-005076
Request for Investigation—5 U.S.C. § 1213(c)

Dear Attorney General Barr:

I am referring to you for investigation a whistleblower disclosure concerning
employees of the Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigations (FBI), Criminal
Justice Information Systems Branch (CJIS), Clatksburg, West Virginia. The
whistleblower alleged that employees have engaged in conduct that may constitute a
violation of law, rule, or regulation, gross mismanagement, and a substantial and specific
danger to public safety. A report of your investigation on these allegations and any
related matters is due to the Office of Special Counsel on December 20, 2019.

a Program Manager in the FBI National Instant
Criminal Background Check System (NICS) who consented to the release of her name,
disclosed that officials have engaged in conduct that violates DOJ regulations and puts
the public at risk. The allegations to be investigated include:

e The FBI has failed to provide adequate staffing to NICS, allegedly resulting in the
failure to complete required background checks prior to the sale of firearms; and

e CJIS management has improperly transferred the NICS appeal process to the
Biometric Services Section, in violation of the Brady Handgun Violence
Protection Act of 1993 (the Brady Act), Public Law 103-159 and 28 C.F.R. Part
25.

Prior to completing a sale of a firearm, a commercial seller, known as a Federal
Firearms Licensee (FFL), must contact NICS to perform a background check to verify
that the buyer is not prohibited from purchasing and owning a firearm. Upon review, an
NICS examiner advises the FFL to proceed with the fircarm transaction if the background
check results in no matching records, or to deny the firearm transaction if the purchaser
has a record that includes prohibitive criteria. If a purchaser’s record contains potentially
prohibitive criteria and more information is required to make a determination, the NICS
examiner advises the FFL to delay the firearm transfer. In the case of delay, if the NICS
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The Special Counsel

The Honorable William Barr
October 22, 2019
Page 2 of 3

examiner is unable to provide a determination to the FFL within three business days,
under the Brady Act the FFL may proceed with the firearm transfer.

B (o that NICS does not have adequate staff to make
determinations on all inquiries within three business days. As a result of NICS’s inability
to meet the three business day determination period, firearms transactions that should
have been denied have been completed, requiring subsequent recovery efforts by the
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF). In 2018, for example,
NICS completed a background check and found prohibitive criteria in 4,240 firearm
transactions after the three-day window, referring those transactions to ATF for firearm
retrieval from individuals prohibited from purchasing and owning a firearm. Moreover,
I < orted that if NICS does not make a final determination on a
background check that contains potentially prohibitive criteria within 90 days of receipt,
the record of the transaction is purged from the system. In 2018, NICS purged 201,323
background checks at 90 days with no final determination ever being made on those
firearm transactions. In purged cases, NICS does not know whether the FFL transferred a
firearm to the buyer.

B (o that NICS management has requested additional staff
annually to address its increasing caseload but has been denied the requested staffing

increases. NICS requested 368 additional employees in 2017, and received 75; 321
employees in 2018, and received 38; and 409 employees in 2019, and received none.
I 1cccd that NICS is unable to perform all background checks in the
required timeframe based on this staffing shortage.

*also alleged that CJIS management has improperly transferred
the NICS appeal process to the Biometric Services Section (BSS). The appeal procedures
have been specifically delegated to the NICS section under §103 of the Brady Act and the
implementing policies and procedures laid out in 28 C.F.R. Ch. 25. According to [}

the appeal process was assigned outside of the NICS section to BSS in

October 2018, without the required delegation from the Attorney General.

Pursuant to my authority under 5 U.S.C. § 1213(c), I have concluded that there is
a substantial likelihood that the information provided to OSC discloses a violation of law,
rule, or regulation, gross mismanagement, and a substantial and specific danger to public
safety. Please note that specific allegations and references to specific violations of law,
rule, or regulation are not intended to be exclusive. If, in the course of your investigation,
you discover additional violations, please include your findings on these additional
matters in the report to OSC. As previously noted, your agency must conduct an
investigation of these matters and produce a report, which must be reviewed and signed
by you. Per statutory requirements, I will review the report for sufficiency and
reasonableness before sending copies of the agency report, along with the
whistleblower’s comments and any comments or recommendations I may have, to the
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The Special Counsel

The Honorable William Barr
October 22, 2019
Page 3 of 3

President and congressional oversight committees and making these documents publicly
available.

Additional important requirements and guidance on the agency report are
included in the attached Appendix, which can also be accessed at
https://osc.gov/Services/Pages/DU-Resources.aspx. If your investigators have questions
regarding the statutory process or the report required under section 1213, please contact
Catherine A. McMullen, Chief, Disclosure Unit, at (202) 804-7088 or
cmcmullen(@osc.gov for assistance. | am also available for any questions you may have.

Sincerely,
Henry J. Kerner
Special Counsel

Enclosure

cc: The Honorable Michael E. Horowitz, Inspector General
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APPENDIX
AGENCY REPORTS UNDERS U.S.C. § 1213

GUIDANCE ON 1213 REPORT

® OSC requires that your investigators interview the whistleblower at the beginning of the
agency investigation when the whistleblower consents to the disclosure of his or her
name.

® Should the agency head delegate the authority to review and sign the report, the
delegation must be specifically stated and include the authority to take the actions
necessary under 5 U.S.C. § 1213(d)(5).

® OSC will consider extension requests in 60-day increments when an agency evidences
that it is conducting a good faith investigation that will require more time to complete.

® Identify agency employees by position title in the report and attach a key identifying the
employees by both name and position. The key identifying employees will be used by
OSC in its review and evaluation of the report. OSC will place the report without the
employee identification key in its public file.

® Do not include in the report personally identifiable information, such as social security
numbers, home addresses and telephone numbers, personal e-mails, dates and places of
birth, and personal financial information.

® Include information about actual or projected financial savings as a result of the
investigation as well as any policy changes related to the financial savings.

® Reports previously provided to OSC may be reviewed through OSC’s public file, which
is available here: htips://osc.gov/PublicFiles. Please refer to our file number in any
correspondence on this matter.

RETALIATION AGAINST WHISTLEBLOWERS

In some cases, whistleblowers who have made disclosures to OSC that are referred for
investigation pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1213 also allege retaliation for whistleblowing once the
agency is on notice of their allegations. The Special Counsel strongly recommends the agency
take all appropriate measures to protect individuals from retaliation and other prohibited
personnel practices.

EXCEPTIONS TO PUBLIC FILE REQUIREMENT

OSC will place a copy of the agency report in its public file unless it is classified or
prohibited from release by law or by Executive Order requiring that information be kept secret in
the interest of national defense or the conduct of foreign affairs. 5 U.S.C. § 1219(a).

EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT

If the agency discovers evidence of a criminal violation during the course of its
investigation and refers the evidence to the Attorney General, the agency must notify the Office
of Personnel Management and the Office of Management and Budget. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(f). In
such cases, the agency must still submit its report to OSC, but OSC must not share the report
with the whistleblower or make it publicly available. See 5 U.S.C. §§ 1213(f), 1219¢a)(1).
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U.S. Department of Justice

Office of the Deputy Attorney General

Bradley Weinsheimer Washington, D.C. 20530
Associate Deputy Attorney General

April 22, 2020

The Honorable Henry J. Kerner
Special Counsel

Office of the Special Counsel
1730 M. Street, N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505

Re:  OSC File No. DI-19-005076; Investigation Regarding Whistleblower Disclosures
Relating To the FBI Criminal Justice Information Service

Dear Mr. Kerner:

I am responding to your October 22, 2019 letter to the Attorney General in which you
referred for investigation allegations by a whistleblower that you believe constituted a substantial
likelihood that a violation of law, rule, or regulation has occurred. Specifically, a federal
employee of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) alleged that: (1) the FBI Criminal Justice
Information Services (CJIS) Division failed to provide adequate staffing to the National Instant
Background Check System (NICS), resulting in the failure to complete required background
checks prior to the sale of firearms; and 2) CJIS management improperly transferred the NICS
appeal process to the Biometric Services Section (BSS), in violation of the Brady Handgun
Violence Protection Act of 1993 (Brady Act). While response to these types of whistleblower
allegations are delegated to me by the Attorney General, in this matter, the FBI through the
Inspection Division was charged with investigating this matter and provided its report directly to
you.

As reflected in the report, the FBI’s Inspection Division received your letter and
undertook an investigation. That investigation did not substantiate that there exists a substantial
likelihood that a violation of law, rule, or regulation had occurred as alleged by the
whistleblower. In particular, the investigation concluded that CJIS executive management took
appropriate and proactive steps to address staffing needs and that required background checks
were completed as appropriate. The Inspection Division further concluded that the transfer of
the NICS Appeal process to the BSS capitalized on automation, improved efficiency, and was
completed in accordance with the Brady Act. I have thoroughly reviewed the FBI’s report and
concur with its conclusions.
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I trust that the investigation conducted by the FBI’s Inspection Division resolves the
concerns outlined in your letter, and that you will close your file on this matter. Please do not
hesitate to contact me if [ can provide further assistance.

Sincerely,

4. Bradley Weinsheimer

Bradley Weinsheimer
Associate Deputy Attorney General
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REVIEW OF CJIS DIVISION’S NATIONAL INSTANT CRIMINAL
BACKGROUND CHECK SYSTEM (NICS)

April 14, 2020

Scott B. Cheney \)
Deputy Assistant Director
Inspection Division
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CJIS DIVISION
NATIONAL INSTANT CRIMINAL
BACKGROUND CHECK SYSTEM

04/15/2020

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

(U//FOUO) On 10/22/2019, the U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) referred a request for
investigation to Attorney General (AG) William Barr. The request was delegated to the FBI,
Inspection Division (INSD) and involved two allegations made by a whistleblower that:

1) the FBI Criminal Justice Information Services (CJIS) Division failed to provide adequate
staffing to the National Instant Background Check System (NICS), resulting in the failure to
complete required background checks prior to the sale of firearms; and 2) CJIS management
improperly transferred the NICS appeal process to the Biometric Services Section (BSS), in
violation of the Brady Handgun Violence Protection Act of 1993 (Brady Act).

(U//FOUO) On 01/23/2020, an INSD team deployed to CJIS to conduct a review. The team
conducted nine interviews with CJIS personnel; reviewed documentation; compiled statistics;
and obtained pertinent data. INSD reviewed CJIS and NICS Section communications consisting
of reports, emails, and internal documents. For the purposes of this review, INSD evaluated
relevant information from 2016 to 2019 to evaluate the two allegations.

(U//FOUQ) INSD assessed between 1999 and 2019, NICS had a three-fold increase in
background checks. Since its inception in 1993, NICS staffing has been a focus of CJIS
executive management (EM) and the staffing challenges have been addressed through budget
and FSL enhancement, increased automation, contract employee utilization, employee overtime,
and employee cross training. INSD further assessed that despite increased workload and staffing
challenges, the NICS Section took appropriate steps to complete required background checks
prior to the transfer of firearms. In 2019, of the 28,369,750 background checks submitted to
NICS, 28,108,438 (99.1%) were resolved within three business days; 28,162,329 (99.3%) were
resolved within the 90 day Brady Act required timeframe; and 2,989 (<1%) were referred to the
ATF for retrieval.

(U//FOUOQO) The authority for processing transactions, providing five-day response letters, and
conducting NICS appeals was statutorily vested with the AG pursuant to the Brady Act. The AG
delegated the authority to process appeals to NICS. In 2018, CJIS EM partially automated the
firearms appeals process by transferring the NICS appeals function to the BSS, after consulting
with the FBI Office of General Counsel (OGC), who had no legal objection.

(U//FOUQ) INSD assessed CJIS EM took appropriate and proactive steps to address staffing
needs during the review period and the transfer of the NICS Appeal process to the BSS
capitalized on automation, improved efficiency, and was completed in accordance with the
Brady Act.
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SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

(U//FOUQO) On 01/23/2020, Inspector In-Charge Thomas F. Relford and Assistant Inspector
Scott A. James deployed to FBI CJIS in Clarksburg, West Virginia, to conduct this review. The
team conducted interviews with the Complainant and CJIS personnel, reviewed documentation,
compiled statistics, and obtained pertinent data to assess the whistleblower complaint.

(U//FOUO) Additionally, CJIS responded to a Request for Information from INSD which
addressed Recommendations made in the 2015 INSD Report, “4 Review of the CJIS Division’s
National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS) in Clarksburg, West Virginia,”
conducted following the Dylann Roof shooting, which occurred on 06/17/2015 in Charleston,
South Carolina.

(U//FOUQO) The review focused on the two areas outlined in the whistleblower complaint: (1)
the adequacy of NICS staffing levels related to the processing and appeals of background checks,
and (2) the transfer of the NICS Appeals function from the NICS Section to the BSS.

(U//FOUO) INSD conducted nine interviews, consisting of the Complainant, CJIS personnel,
and an attorney from the OGC.

(U//FOUO) INSD reviewed CJIS and NICS Section communications consisting of reports, e-

mails, and internal documents. For the purposes of this review, INSD evaluated relevant
information from 2016 to 2019.
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BACKGROUND

(U//FOUO) On 10/22/2019, the U.S. OSC referred a request (OSC File No. DI-19-005076) for
investigation of a whistleblower complaint to AG Barr. (Appendix B) The request was in turn
delegated to the INSD for review. As detailed in the complaint, the Complainant, |||l

B 21lcccd the following:

. The FBI failed to provide adequate staffing to NICS, allegedly resulting in the failure
to complete required background checks prior to the sale of firearms

o CJIS management improperly transferred the NICS appeal process to the Biometric
Services Section, in violation of the Brady Handgun Violence Protection Act of 1993.
Public Law 103-159 and 28 C.F.R. Part 25.

(U//FOUO) For background, NICS is a DOJ program established pursuant to the Brady Act
designed to prevent the transfer of firearms to criminals, the mentally ill, illegal aliens, and
people who have renounced their U.S. Citizenship or violated a number of State specific
prohibitions. NICS is a name check system utilized to determine qualification for receiving or
possessing firearms according to federal guidelines. The NICS process includes searching, at a
minimum, three federally maintained databases: the National Crime Information Center, the
Interstate Identification Index, and the NICS Index. If applicant identifiers match any entries in
the federally maintained databases, the external manual and automated databases are cross-
referenced for resolution. These databases include the ATF Relief from Disabilities Database,
NICS Voluntary Appeal File, Disposition and Document File, and Westlaw.

(U//FOUQ) Legal Instrument Examiners (LIEs), who range in grade from GS-7 to GS-9,
assigned to the NICS Section, within CJIS are divided into various NICS program roles, to
include: Research and Analysis; Appeals Services and Explosives; Command Center; Regional
Coordinators; and NICS Index Team. Additionally, the NICS Section manages three region<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>